FILED 07-06-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

## COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2022AP000654 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANTWAN E. GILL,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from the circuit court Monroe County, Judge Todd L. Ziegler Case No 2017CM172

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KELLY LAW OFFICE BY ANNICE M. KELLY State Bar No. 1001958

4623 75<sup>th</sup> St., #278 Kenosha, WI 53142 312-965-2002 Amkelly8141@gmail.com

##

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The trial court erred when it denied Mr. Gill's post conviction motion for a new trial.

- a. The trial court erred when it ruled reasonable suspicion is determined when the FST are performed and not when the officer decides to perform them.
- b. Trial counsel was ineffective and Mr. Gill was prejudiced, when he failed to bring a motion to suppress the results of the breath, blood and sobriety tests based on a lack of reasonable suspicion to conduct these tests.
- c. Trial counsel was ineffective and Mr. Gill was prejudiced, when trial counsel failed to show the jury relevant portions of the squad cam video and cross examine Trooper Edwards on the inconsistencies between the video, his police report and his trial testimony.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested because it is anticipated that the briefs will fully present and discuss the issue on appeal.

The opinion in this case should not be published because it does not meet any of the criteria for publication under Rule 809.23(1)(a).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A jury found Antwan E. Gill guilty of possession of THC, in violation of Wis. Stat. 961.41(3g)(e) and of operating with a restricted controlled substance in

his blood, 3<sup>rd</sup>, in violation of Wis. Stat. 346.63(1)(am) after a two day trail that took place between March 24 and 25, 2021. (R. 96, App.; R. 118 at 98-99). It found him not guilty of driving a motor vehicle while under the influence of a controlled substance, in violation of Wis. Stat. 346.63(1)(a). (*Id.*). Monroe County Judge Ziegler found Mr. Gill guilty of operating a motor vehicle without a valid license, in violation of Wis. Stat. 343.05(3)(a) and keeping an open intoxicant in a motor vehicle, in violation of Wis. Stat. 346.935(3). (R. 96, App. B; R. 118 at 112).

The court entered judgement on March 25, 2021(R. 96, App. B) and sentenced Mr. Gill to serve 65 days in jail on the operating with a controlled substance count. As to the remaining counts, Mr. Gill was fined, assessed costs and had his license revoked for 24 months. (*Id.*).

A post conviction hearing addressing whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file a motion to suppress the results of the Field Sobriety Tests, ineffectively cross examining Trooper Jacob Edwards and failing to show the jury key portions of the squad cam video, was held on February 10, 2022. A suppression hearing was held immediately after the *Machner* hearing. (R. 148). On April 13, 2022, the court denied Mr. Gill's post conviction motion. (R. 155, 164).

#### The Traffic Stop

Mr. Gill was charged with the above referenced crimes after Trooper Edwards stopped him solely for speeding on Interstate 94. (R. 148 at 50). On March 24, 2017, Trooper Edwards clocked Mr. Gill's car as traveling at 84 mph in

a 70 mph zone (R. 21). This stop was videoed by Trooper Edwards' squad cam and took approximately an hour. (See Tr. Ex 6).

At trial, Trooper Edwards testified that a male was driving the car and there was a female passenger. (R. 117 at 148). Trooper Edwards approached the vehicle on the passenger side and the passenger rolled down the window. On the video, Trooper Edwards did not react to a smell of marijuana and he did not say that he smelt marijuana. (Tr. Ex 6 at 2:10-2:42).

Trooper Edwards completed the traffic stop and was about to let Mr. Gill's passenger drive the car away,<sup>2</sup> when he saw what he thought was a marijuana "roach" cigarette in the cup holder between the driver and the passenger seats. (R. 148 at 53, 84-85; Tr. Ex. 6 at 14:20-14:44). Mr. Gill volunteered it was a roach and "old as hell". (R. 148 at 54, 84; Tr. Ex 6 at 14:50-14:55).

Trooper Edwards asked if anything else was in the car and when was the last time Mr. Gill smoked. Mr. Gill responded that it had been awhile and the "roach" in the cup holder was old. The Trooper asked if Mr. Gill had smoked that day and Mr. Gill responded no. (Tr. Ex 6 at 14:50-15:00). Trooper Edwards then

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Contrary to his actions on the video, Trooper Edwards testified at trial that when he approached the passenger side, he "briefly detected a faint and transient odor which smelled like raw marijuana and burned marijuana, but it was very brief, kind of as the wind swirled" (R. 117 at 148).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The passenger was now driving because Mr. Gill did not have a valid driver's license. (R. 148 at 83).

told Mr. Gill that he has to "check" and see if anything else is in the car and he will do it as quick as he can. (*Id.* at 15:00-15:12).

### The search of Mr. Gill and the passenger

Trooper Edwards then asked Mr. Gill to step out of the car so he could be searched. (*Id.* at 15:00-17:00). In the video, Trooper Edwards never reacts to the smell of marijuana or alcohol on Mr. Gill, nor does he say anything to Mr. Gill about a smell of alcohol or marijuana on him. When asked at trial the basis for the FST, Trooper Edwards replied:

- Q. Okay. You know, given that, it was merely the roach in the cup holder that caused you to go through the battery of tests with Mr. Gill?
- A. That was the biggest motivator, I would say.

(R. 117 at 205). It was not until he was coached by the State, prior to the post conviction hearing, (R. 148 at 78), that Trooper Edwards changed his testimony and also claimed the FST were also based on the smell of alcohol:

There was clarification, things in my report about smelling the faint and transient odor of marijuana and the odor of intoxicating beverage from Mr. Gill compared to my statement to a backup officer that all I could smell, or what I told the officer was all I can smell really was, I believe, something to the effect of air fresheners and cigarettes.

(Id. at 77).

Trooper Edwards asked the passenger to step out of the car so that he could search her. (Tr. Ex 6 at 17:20). On the video, as he is searching the passenger, he visibly reacts and unequivocally states that he smells marijuana on her. (*Id.* at 20:00-20:20; R. 148 at 87). However, in his police report he described this event as "I detected a faint odor of raw marijuana near [the passenger]..." (R. 145 at 3). Trooper Edwards admitted at the post conviction hearing that his police report did

not accurately reflect his detection of the smell of marijuana on the passenger, even though he used the video to draft his police report. (R. 148 at 87, 97).

Trooper Edwards smelt marijuana on the passenger but never performed a FST on her and let her drive away. (*Id.* at 86-87).

## Trooper Edwards states that he does not smell anything suspicious

Trooper Edwards then spent approximately 20 minutes searching Mr. Gill's car. (Tr. Ex. 6 at 20:50-38:40). At 33:26 he stopped when another Trooper arrived on the scene. At 33:40 he told the other Trooper that he saw a roach in the cup holder. He then stated that he didn't smell anything but cigarettes and air freshener but he was going to put Mr. Gill through a FST. (*Id.* at 33:40-33:56). At the post conviction hearing, Trooper Edwards attempted to explain away this unequivocal statement by stating:

I could not recall whether or not that had been before or after I had determined that [Mr. Gill] had an odor of intoxicating beverage on his person.

(R. 148 at 80). This statement came over 15 minutes after he had searched Mr. Gill. He then continued the search of the vehicle and its contents at 34:12. The search ended at 38:54. In total the search of the car lasted over 17 minutes.

## The sole basis for the FST is the roach in the cupholder

Trooper Edwards' statement to the other Trooper is clear that the only information he has is the cupholder roach; despite this he is going to perform a FST. He confirmed this basis when he testified at trial. He stated:

Q. Okay. You know, given that, it was merely the roach in the cup holder that caused you to go through the battery of tests with Mr. Gill?

A. That was the biggest motivator, I would say. (R. 117 at 205).

## Trooper Edwards changed his testimony as to where he found the second roach

The search of the car resulted in a second "roach" in the area of the front passenger seat, in the "cubby" on the passenger side door. (R 117 at 152, 209).

- Q Did you search the vehicle?
- A. I did.
- Q. Were there any other marijuana items that in the vehicle?
- A. I located one other similar suspected marijuana cigarette, or roach, in the area of the front Passenger seat.

#### (R. 117 at 152).

- Q. Trooper, I forgot to ask you, you mentioned in Direct that you found a second half-used joint around the passenger side of the vehicle?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Do you remember where?
- A. I believe I recall my report indicating it, was in, I think, the map pocket of the door. Again I'm using gestures, but it's the cubby on the passenger side door, which would be near a passenger's right shin.
- (*Id.* at 209). After this testimony, the State showed Trooper Edwards his police report and then the officer changed his testimony:
  - Q. Trooper, is your recollection refreshed as to where the item was located?
  - A. It appears I reported it was in the driver's door pocket.

(Id. at 210).

Trooper Edwards testified that he then performed a FST on Mr. Gill. (R. 117 at 164).

## Trial counsel's deficient performance

Trial counsel never filed a suppression motion seeking to suppress the results of the FST for lack of reasonable suspicion to perform them.

Trial counsel cross examined Trooper Edwards extensively on Tr Ex 6, and the FST, (R. 117 at 187-208), but did not begin his questioning related to the video until minute 42:33. (*Id.* at 192). Trial counsel never asked Trooper Edwards about his statement at 33:47 in which he states that he does not smell anything suspicious but will perform a FST anyway, despite the Trooper's earlier trial testimony that he smelt marijuana. Trooper Edwards also incorrectly estimated that approximately 10-15 minutes had passed after he first had contact with Mr. Gill, before the FST. (*Id.* at 208-09). The video established that it did not begin until approximately 42 minutes into the stop.

At the post conviction hearing, trial counsel admitted that he should have filed a suppression motion; admitting that Trooper Edwards' statement, that he did not smell anything suspicious, could have formed the basis for a suppression motion and a basis to attack his credibility at trial. (R. 148 at 13-14). He further admitted that he never considered the discrepancy between the police report and the video statements:

I don't know that I ever processed Trooper Edwards' statements [on the video] that I just heard and that we've discussed in conjunction with the report that he smelled, like, a faint odor of marijuana.

*Id.* at 13. He further admitted that Trooper Edwards' smell of marijuana on the passenger also could have supported a motion to suppress. *Id.* at 15.

So, in other words, to answer the question about why we didn't file, is because I think probably that issue was missed.

*Id.* at 16.

Trial counsel had no answer as to why he did not show the jury the video of this statement or why he did not cross examine Trooper Edwards on this contradiction. He did agree that it would have been important evidence for the jury to have and that it would have hurt Trooper Edwards' credibility. (*Id.* at 18-19).

- Q. So, again, I hate to belabor the point, but one more time, having shown that video where he said he didn't smell anything certainly takes -- would have gone a long way of taking away the credibility of that statement basis for that he smelled that odor and would sustain a the field sobriety tests?
- A. Right. I think I've acknowledged that. But, yes, I think that would have been an important thing for the -- both potential fact finder at a suppression hearing to know and as well as a jury.

(*Id.* at 40).

Trial counsel similarly could not explain why he did not show the jury and cross examine Trooper Edwards on his video reaction to smelling marijuana on the passenger versus the description in his police report.

Q. Okay. After Trooper Edwards reads his police report, he then says he did not detect an odor of marijuana on the passenger. So do you think showing that portion of the video to Trooper Edwards and cross-examining him on it, and to the jury, would have once again called into question Trooper Edwards' credibility and the reliability of that police report?

A. I do.

(*Id.* at 19-21). Trial counsel also had no answer to why he allowed Trooper Edwards, who twice testified at trial that he found a second roach by the passenger door, to change his testimony and claim he found it by the driver's door, after reading his admittedly inaccurate police report.

Q. So after Trooper Edwards -- let me start by saying, do you remember after Trooper Edwards testified twice that the second roach was found on the passenger side, the

Case 2022AP000654 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-06-2022 Page 13 of 30

district attorney on redirect once again showed Trooper Edwards a portion of his police report, and then Trooper Edwards changed his testimony and stated that the second roach was found in the driver's side. Do you recall that testimony?

- A. I hadn't recalled that until you mentioned it now, and at this point I do vaguely recall it. And I don't know sitting here today how that ended up playing out. That's all.
- Q. Okay. So don't you think had you shown Trooper Edwards and the jury those prior discrepancies between his police report and the video of the real time what was happening this change in his testimony based on the reading of his police report could have also gone to the reliability of that report and his credibility?
- A. I agree that that could have had an impact on the jury.
- Q. And do you know why you didn't follow up with the change in testimony from Trooper Edwards?
- A. So similarly to other answers I've given, I don't recall ever having a conscious thought process about whether to do that or not, but just doing in the moment the best I could is I think what happened, so I didn't not cross-examine in that particular way on purpose. It was just something I didn't do.

(*Id.* at 22-23).

### The court's ruling

The court denied Mr. Gill's post conviction motion finding that reasonable suspicion is determined at the time the officer performs the FST and not when he makes the decision to perform it:

So the issue, again, is whether or not there was reasonable suspicion to complete field sobriety tests. This is at the time that field sobriety tests were completed, not when Mr. Gill was taken out of the vehicle.

...I'll state that there was no mention of field sobriety tests until after the search, and even if there was, it doesn't matter, it's when the field sobriety tests were done. And that's the point in time that I am looking at.

And I'm not sure it makes any difference in this situation, but, nonetheless, I believe that's the time that I am looking at is when the actual -- I'm not sure it would be called a seizure, but when Mr. Gill was requested to perform field sobriety tests. And that wasn't done until after the search.

(R. 164 at 7-8). The court then considered all the factors that occurred after Trooper Edwards made the decision to perform the FST:

Case 2022AP000654 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-06-2022 Page 14 of 30

So we have an initial faint and transient odor of marijuana. Again, that's not something that Trooper Edwards could contribute to the vehicle. We have the speeding at 84 miles per hour in a 70-mile-an-hour zone; the marijuana joint in the cup holder; the odor of intoxicants on Mr. Gill; the second marijuana joint found in the driver's side door; and the one-third full bottle of whiskey in the back of the vehicle.

(Id. at 8).

The court also discounted Trooper Edwards' statement that he did not smell anything:

Trooper Edwards' comment to another trooper, I'm also finding his testimony credible, that that didn't mean that he didn't at any point smell something more.

(*Id.*). Trooper Edwards' testimony on this point, referred back the roach found in the cupholder:

A. In that moment the odors from the vehicle would probably not have had any odor other than the odors I had indicated. Certainly, at some point, for example, when I had been handed the roach, at the point I smelled the roach I certainly had smelled the odor of marijuana.

It's part of how I identified it as such, so I wasn't -- by saying that to the other officer I wasn't saying that I had never smelled anything other than air fresheners and cigarettes.

(R. 148 at 101-102).

The court then dismissed Trooper Edwards' trial testimony concerning the basis of the FST because it was at trial and not at a suppression hearing:

The testimony at trial -- his testimony at trial that the joint was the motivator for field sobriety tests means little if nothing, from my perspective. That was not a suppression motion. That was really him indicating that was a primary motivator. It doesn't mean that there weren't other things that he considered, so I don't find that to be important in this decision.

- (R. 164 at 9). At trial when asked if there were other factors, Trooper Edwards referred to the faint odor he could not attribute to Mr. Gill's car:
  - Q. Okay. Was there another one?
  - A. Well, based on my training in SFSTs, or Standardized Field Sobriety Tests, driving behavior's such as speed are often associated as a risk-taking behavior with consumption

Case 2022AP000654 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-06-2022 Page 15 of 30

of alcohol and drugs, and then the odor, though it was, as I testified and reported, faint and transient.

(R. 117 at 205).

The court then found reasonable suspicion based on operating with a restricted control substance in the blood:

I can look at this from an operating with a restricted controlled substance in blood case as well, and there was clearly reasonable suspicion at that point for that as well as I would say under the influence such that it would be sufficient for -- sufficient to perform field sobriety tests or to expand to having field sobriety tests completed.

I would point to a case that I think is pertinent here. That is State v. Adell, A-D-E-L-L, 399 Wis.2d 399. It's a Wisconsin Court of Appeals case. It's a .02 restriction case, which I think has some similarities to a restricted controlled substance case. And I believe that that decision and some of the holdings certainly supports the decision that the Court has made that it was sufficient for reasonable suspicion for the field sobriety tests.

(R. 164 at 10).

The court did not find trial counsel's performance deficient or that Mr. Gill was prejudiced when he failed to a suppression motion:

I find nothing deficient in Mr. Hammer's performance in relation to not filing the suppression motion really based on the evidence that he had. I understand Miss Kelly's position that he should have filed the motion, but in the end it's not prejudicial to Mr. Gill because he was not successful on the suppression motion.

(*Id.* at 11).

Finally, the court did not find trial counsel ineffective on his failure to cross examine Trooper Edwards on the inconsistencies between the video, his police report and his trial testimony. The court also admitted that it did not understand the argument concerning where the second roach was found:

So next, or, finally, Mr. Gill argues that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to cross-examine Trooper Edwards on three specific issues. One was his statement to another trooper that he did not -- didn't smell anything suspicious but will perform field sobriety tests anyway.

That's not necessarily the exact statement. I didn't look it up, but Trooper Edwards did clarify that at the motion hearing, and I believe that's how he would have clarified it at the trial as well. The trial was whether he committed the offense charged not whether

Case 2022AP000654 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-06-2022 Page 16 of 30

field sobriety tests should have been performed. So I realize that that suggests that he had not smelled anything, but I believe that he would have further clarified his testimony for the jury.

The second one is not cross-examining Trooper Edwards' reaction to smelling marijuana on the passenger. At this point we'll simply state this is not whether the passenger possessed the marijuana or was driving with a restricted controlled substance in blood, it's whether Mr. Gill was.

. . .

The third and final is why -- the argument of why trial counsel allowed Trooper Edwards to change his testimony to that the second roach, or joint, was found in the driver's side door, when he had testified twice it was in the passenger side door.

I'm not sure I understand that argument. If trial counsel had objected to the District Attorney on redirect, addressing this with his police report, the objection would have been overruled. Certainly, Miss Skiles at the time would have been allowed to let Trooper Edwards review his report to refresh his memory as to where that second joint was found.

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