Case 2022AP000654 Respondent Brief Filed 10-11-2022 Page 1 of 18

FILED 10-11-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Appeal No. 2022AP654-CR Trial Court Case No. 2017CM000172

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

ANTWAN E. GILL,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON ADDEAU EDOM AN ODDED DENVING DOSTCONVICTION DELIEF

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MONROE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TODD L. ZIELGER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

SARAH M. SKILES Assistant District Attorney State Bar #1093720

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Gill failed to establish trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance when counsel did not file a motion to suppress.

Case 2022AP000654 Respondent Brief Filed 10-11-2022 Page 9 of 18

A. Relevant legal principles and standard of review.

A criminal defendant has the right to the effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). A defendant claiming ineffective assistance must prove both that his lawyer's representation was deficient and he suffered prejudice as a result of the deficient performance. *Id.* at 687. If the court concludes the defendant has not proven one prong, it need not address the other. *Id.* at 697.

To prove deficient performance, a defendant must show his counsel's representation "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness" considering all the circumstances. *Id.* at 688. The defendant must demonstrate that specific acts or omissions of counsel fell "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." *Id.* at 690.

To demonstrate prejudice, the defendant must show the alleged deficient performance prejudiced him. *Id.* at 693. The defendant must show more than counsel's errors had a conceivable effective on the proceedings' outcome. Rather, the defendant must demonstrate "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.* at 694.

Courts strongly presume counsel rendered adequate assistance and "made all the significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable judgment." *State v. Glass*, 170 Wis.2d 146, 151-52, 488 N.W.2d 432 (Ct. App. 1992). Appellate courts must not second-guess trial counsel's performance through the skewed perspective of hindsight. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. If tactical or strategic decisions are based on rationality founded on the facts and the law, the courts will not find those decisions constitute ineffective assistance of counsel, "even though by hindsight we are able to conclude that an inappropriate decision was made or that a more appropriate decision could have been made." *State v. Felton*, 110 Wis.2d 485, 502, 329 N.W.2d 161 (1983).

Whether counsel's performance constitutes ineffective assistance is a mixed question of fact and law. *State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis.2d 121, 127, 449 N.W.2d 845

Case 2022AP000654 Respondent Brief Filed 10-11-2022 Page 10 of 18

(1990). Any factual findings by the trial court will be upheld unless the findings are clearly erroneous. *Id.* However, the ultimate conclusion of whether counsel's performance was deficient and prejudicial, such that it constitutes ineffective assistance, is a question of law that is reviewed independently of the trial court. *Id.* at 128.

B. Trial counsel's decision to not file a suppression motion was based on a reasonable strategy, and thus does not constitute deficient performance.

Trial counsel did not perform deficiently when he failed to file a suppression motion related to the traffic stop's extension. Performance can only be deficient if it falls "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690.

Trial counsel, who had been practicing criminal law for approximately fifteen years at the time he handled this case (R. 148:24-25), testified he specifically contemplated a motion to suppress. (R. 148:13, 29-30, 38.) Counsel explained his analysis of the issue. (R. 148:29-30.) He testified that he believed in his professional judgment, after having filed "several [suppression motions] a year [for approximately fifteen years]" (R. 148:27), that the motion would be unsuccessful. (R. 148:13, 29-30, 38.)

Counsel's decision to not file a suppression motion was a professionally reasoned decision, not an unintentional omission. Counsel rationally contemplated, weighed, and considered a motion based on the facts of the case and his knowledge of the law. Such performance does not fall outside of competent assistance.

As such, counsel's failure to file the suppression motion is not constitutionally deficient.

C. Alternatively, Gill's counsel was not deficient and Gill was not prejudiced by his counsel not filing a suppression motion because the motion would not have succeeded.

Counsel's failure to file a suppression motion challenging the extension of the traffic stop was not deficient nor did it result in prejudice to Gill because the Case 2022AP000654 Respondent Brief Filed 10-11-2022 Page 11 of 18

extension was supported by the requisite level of suspicion and the trial court would have denied such a motion.

1. An officer must have reasonable suspicion to extend a traffic stop.

A police officer may make a traffic stop if he reasonably suspects a person is violating traffic regulations. *State v. Colstad*, 2003 WI App 25, ¶ 8, 260 Wis.2d 406. If, following a valid stop, an officer becomes aware of additional suspicious facts which are sufficient to give rise to an articulable suspicion that the person has committed, or is committing, an offense separate and distinct from the acts that prompted the officer's intervention in the first place, the stop may be extended and a new investigation begun. *State v. Hogan*, 2015 WI 76, ¶ 35, 364 Wis.2d 167. "An expansion in the scope of the inquiry, when accompanied by an extension of time longer than would have been needed for the original stop, must be supported by reasonable suspicion." *Id*.

Reasonable suspicion means the police officer "possess[es] specific and articulable facts that warrant a reasonable belief that criminal activity is afoot." *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 21, 294 Wis.2d 1. What constitutes reasonable suspicion is a common-sense, totality-of-the-circumstances test that asks, "[w]hat would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience?" *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis.2d 51, 56, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996).

Operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated consists of two elements: (1) the defendant drove or operated a motor vehicle on a highway and (2) the defendant was under the influence of an intoxicant at the time the defendant drove or operated the motor vehicle. Wis. JI-Criminal 2669 (2022). "Under the influence of an intoxicant" requires that the defendant's ability to operate a motor vehicle was impaired due to the consumption of alcohol. *Id*.

Operating a motor vehicle with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance is comprised of two elements: (1) the defendant drove or operated a motor vehicle on a highway and (2) the defendant had a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his blood at the time the defendant drove or operated the motor vehicle. Wis. JI-Criminal 2664B (2022).

Case 2022AP000654 Respondent Brief Filed 10-11-2022 Page 12 of 18

"Although officers sometimes will be confronted with behavior that has a possible innocent explanation, a combination of behaviors—all of which may provide the possibility of innocent explanation—can give rise to reasonable suspicion." *Hogan*, 364 Wis.2d at ¶ 36. In other words, police do not need "to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior before initiating a brief stop." *Waldner*, 206 Wis.2d at 59. Thus, when a police officer observes lawful but suspicious conduct, if a reasonable inference of unlawful conduct can be objectively discerned, notwithstanding the existence of other innocent inferences that could be drawn, police officers have the right to temporarily detain the individual for the purpose of inquiry. *State v. Anderson*, 155 Wis.2d 77, 84, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990).

2. Trooper Edwards reasonably suspected an OWI-related violation, which allowed him to extend the traffic stop for field sobriety tests.

Under the totality of the circumstances present in this case, Trooper Edwards had reasonable suspicion Gill was operating while intoxicated, operating with a restricted controlled substance, or both. The following facts support that conclusion.

Gill was driving 14 miles over the speed limit around 4:00 a.m. on a Friday. While approaching the vehicle and the window was lowered, Trooper Edwards smelled marijuana. Trooper Edwards was about to send Gill on his way when he saw what he suspected was a marijuana cigarette in the front cup holder. Trooper Edwards' inspection of it confirmed his suspicions. Trooper Edwards observed the cigarette was burnt. Gill denied smoking that day but was unable to tell Trooper Edwards when he smoked last.

Trooper Edwards had Gill exit the car. The two had further conversation, during which Trooper Edwards smelled alcohol. Gill denied drinking. When Trooper Edwards searched the vehicle, he found a second marijuana cigarette near the driver's door and an open bottle of whiskey with only 1/3 of the contents remaining that was within reach of Gill.

The reasonable-suspicion calculus couples the above "specific and articulable facts . . . with rational inferences from those facts" to point to the

Case 2022AP000654 Respondent Brief Filed 10-11-2022 Page 13 of 18

conclusion that the "intrusion" of continued detention was warranted. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 21, 88S.Ct. 1868 (1968).

It is reasonable for Trooper Edwards to infer Gill was operating while under the influence or with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance from: (1) the odor of marijuana, (2) a partially consumed marijuana cigarette in close proximity to the driver, (3) Gill's inability to state when he last consumed marijuana, (4) the odor of alcohol, and (5) the open, partially consumed alcohol within Gill's reach. While the incident did not "take[] place at or around 'bar time," the timing of the stop [at 4 a.m. on a weekend] still "lend[s] some further credence to [Trooper Edwards'] suspicion that [Gill] was driving while intoxicated." *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 36, 301 Wis.2d 1; *see Waldner*, 206 Wis.2d 51 (time of day is a relevant factor in a reasonable suspicion inquiry).

Based upon these known facts and their reasonable inferences, a reasonable officer in Trooper Edwards' position could reasonably suspect Gill committed the crime of driving while intoxicated and/or with a restricted controlled substance, the investigation of which would be further by his performance on field sobriety tests at the time he extended the stop for field sobriety tests.

3. Trial counsel's failure to raise a meritless motion is not deficient performance and does not prejudice Gill.

The testimony at the postconviction hearing demonstrates Trooper Edwards lawfully extended the traffic stop of Gill and a suppression motion challenging it would have been denied. It is well-established that an attorney is not deficient by failing to pursue a meritless motion. *State v. Cummings*, 199 Wis. 2d 721, 747 n.10, 546 N.W.2d 406 (1996) ("It is well established that an attorney's failure to pursue a meritless motion does not constitute deficient performance."); *State v. Wheat*, 2002 WI App 153, ¶ 14, 256 Wis. 2d 270 (failure to raise a meritless issue is not deficient performance.); *see State v. Jacobsen*, 2014 WI App 13, ¶ 49, 352 Wis.2d 409 ("An attorney does not perform deficiently by failing to make a losing argument."). On this basis, Gill has not proven his trial counsel performed deficiently.

Case 2022AP000654 Respondent Brief Filed 10-11-2022 Page 14 of 18

Further, Gill has not established prejudice because the failure to file an unsuccessful motion does not demonstrate a reasonable probability that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different.

Consequently, Gill's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel on the basis of counsel failing to file a suppression motion fails.

II. Gill failed to establish counsel performed ineffectively when he cross-examined Trooper Edwards.

Gill next argues counsel's cross-examination of Trooper Edwards was insufficient. Gill identifies three areas that he contends counsel should have used to attack the trooper's credibility: (1) Trooper Edwards' statement that he did not smell anything except cigarettes and air freshener; (2) Trooper Edwards' reaction to smelling marijuana on the passenger; and (3) Trooper Edwards' change in testimony as to where he located the second marijuana cigarette in the vehicle. According to Gill, counsel's failure to highlight these issues led to his convictions.

Gill's contentions do not establish ineffective assistance of counsel.

A. Gill fails to show trial counsel's cross-examination of Trooper Edwards was constitutionally deficient.

Gill's attorney's cross-examination was not deficient. To demonstrate deficiency, Gill needed to show counsel's actions were "so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. Gill has not pointed to such errors and the record establishes that two of the three areas complained of by Gill were, in fact, put in front of the jury.

Trooper Edwards' faulty recollection of location of second marijuana cigarette.

Trooper Edwards testified on direct examination that he found the second marijuana cigarette by the front passenger seat. (R. 117:152.) On cross-examination,

Case 2022AP000654 Respondent Brief Filed 10-11-2022 Page 15 of 18

Trooper Edwards testified consistently. (R. 117:209.) On re-direct, Trooper Edwards again testified the second marijuana cigarette was found near or in the passenger side front door. (R. 117:210.) Trooper Edwards subsequently admitted he was not certain where he found the second marijuana cigarette. (R. 117:211.) He then reviewed his report, in front of the jury, and recalled the second marijuana cigarette was actually found in the driver's door pocket. (R. 117:211.)

Trooper Edward's observation of the odor of marijuana on the passenger.

Similarly, the jury knew from Trooper Edwards' cross-examination that Trooper Edwards smelled an odor of marijuana coming from the passenger. (R. 117:203.) In fact, he was cross-examined on it twice by counsel. (R. 117:203; 118: 20.)

It can hardly be said counsel's performance was deficient when counsel covered the very topics which Gill currently argues trial counsel should have addressed with Trooper Edwards.

Trooper Edwards' statement he did not smell anything except air freshener and cigarettes.

The single area Gill complains of that trial counsel did not address with Trooper Edwards was the trooper's statement to the other officer that he did not smell anything other than cigarettes and air freshener.

While cross-examination on this issue may have been a proper and effective technique, failure to do so does not constitute deficient performance. The courts recognize "[t]here are countless ways [for counsel] to provide effective assistance in any given case . . ." and with the benefit of hindsight, it is possible to see how a lawyer could have acted differently. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. However, the courts "are to be 'highly deferential' " when evaluating counsel's performance and "must avoid the 'distorting effects of hindsight.'" *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 19,

Case 2022AP000654 Respondent Brief Filed 10-11-2022 Page 16 of 18

264 Wis. 2d 571. The courts have repeatedly observed "'[c]ounsel need not be perfect, indeed not even very good, to be constitutionally adequate.'" *Id*.

The trial court in this case made numerous findings in support of its conclusion that counsel was effective throughout the trial and acknowledged counsel succeeded in getting an acquittal on one count by skillfully convincing the jury Gill was not impaired. (R. 164:14-16.)

Accordingly, Gill's attorney's performance was not deficient during his cross-examination of Trooper Edwards.

B. Gill fails to prove counsel's performance, if it was deficient, prejudiced him.

Assuming the challenged conduct of counsel was unreasonable, Gill has not demonstrated prejudice.

To demonstrate prejudice, Gill needed to show a reasonable probability that, absent counsel's unprofessional errors, the jury would have reached a different verdict. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694.

The information Gill claims should have been presented to undercut Trooper Edwards' credibility was presented in substantial part to the jury. Therefore, Gill cannot establish the prejudice prong. To the extent the information did not come before the jury, the information was minor and would have had little, if any, effect on the case because there was a vast amount of information from which the jury could convict Gill.

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